No. SC00-256

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant/Appellee,

V.

ALAN I. KARTEN,

Respondent/Appellant.

On Petition For Review of the Report of the Referee For the Eleventh Judicial Circuit

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

G. RICHARD STRAFER G. RICHARD STRAFER, P.A. 2400 South Dixie Highway Suite 200

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. WHETHER THE FLORIDA BAR FAILED TO ESTABLISH A BASIS FOR PETI-TIONER'S DISBARMENT BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE AND WHETHER THE REFEREE'S REPORT RECOMMENDING DISBARMENT SHOULD BE REJECTED, SINCE IT IS BASED UPON FINDINGS OF FACT THAT ARE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS? II. WHETHER THE REFEREE ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO REOPEN THE PROCEEDINGS TO CONSIDER ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE?

III. WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED, AS A MATTER OF LAW, IN RECOMMENDING PETITIONER'S DISBARMENT BASED ON IMPROPER AGGRAVATING FACTORS AND WHETHER DISBARMENT IS AN UNREASONABLE SANCTION UNDER THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES IN THIS CASE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE^{1/}

In April 1998, 12-time convicted felon, Nelson Loynaz, Jr., began filing a series of *pro se* complaints with the Florida Bar,^{2/} accusing his former attorney, Petitioner Alan Ira Karten, of defrauding him of 4 antique automobiles. (*See* Florida Bar ("FB")

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ Citations to the transcripts of the hearings before the Referee in this case will be referred to as "T." followed by the appropriate page numbers. Exhibits entered into evidence during the hearings will be referred to by the party and exhibit number.

 $[\]frac{2}{2}$ Loynaz' *pro se* complaints are part of the Bar's file in this case but were not made a part of the record before the Referee.

Exhibit 5, p. 6.) As discussed more fully below, Karten had been appointed under the Criminal Justice Act ("CJA"), 18 U.S.C. § 3006A, to represent Loynaz in his most recent and serious criminal case, *United States v. Nelson Loynaz, Jr.*, Case No. 96-439-Cr-DAVIS (S.D. Fla.).

After considering and rejecting Karten's responses (*see* T. 19-21 and FB Exhibits 2-5), on February 3, 2000, the Bar filed a Complaint against Karten and, on April 6, 2000, an Amended Complaint. The Complaint sought sanctions against Karten on two bases. *First*, the Complaint alleged that Karten violated the CJA by taking 4 automobiles that Loynaz allegedly owned and had forfeited to the United States in his criminal case as fees for services performed under his court appointment. *Second*, the Complaint alleged that Karten engaged in a scheme to defraud Loynaz out of the 4 automobiles by buying them back from the United States, without Loynaz' permission, for \$30,000 and selling them for profit. The Bar alleged that this conduct violated Rule 4-8.4(c) of *The Rules Regulating the Florida Bar* ("[a] lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation), and sought his disbarment as a sanction, along with restitution.

Karten denied Loynaz' allegations, claiming that, *after* Karten's CJA appointment had terminated, he and Loynaz jointly entered into an contract to repurchase the 4 forfeited cars from the United States. Since Loynaz was indigent, Karten agreed to fund the purchase entirely with his own funds. He would then attempt to sell the cars and, after reimbursing himself for the purchase price, split any profit with Loynaz.

The dispute was eventually referred to a Referee, the Honorable Jerald Bagley, Miami-Dade County Circuit Court Judge. The Referee convened evidentiary hearings on the dispute on December 15 and 18, 2000, and January 5, 11, 12 and 19, 2001. The principal witnesses were Karten, Loynaz, Loynaz' wife (Mary Loynaz), and FBI Special Agent Scott Wiegmann -- the lead agent in charge of Loynaz' federal criminal case.

On January 29, 2001, the Referee issued a written Report, upholding the Bar's allegations. *See* **APPENDIX 1**. According to the Referee, Loynaz was more "credible" than Karten, because Loynaz allegedly had "no discernible motive ... to testify untruthfully." *Id.* at 4-5. The Referee further adopted the Bar's recommendation that Karten be disbarred, due principally to Karten's lack of "contrition," his "refusal to acknowledge" his culpability and "indifference to making restitution to Mr. Loynaz." *Id.* at 6.

On February 8, 2001, Karten, through new counsel, filed a Motion To Supplement Record and For Rehearing, requesting that the Referee reconsider its findings in light of additional evidence and testimony new counsel had uncovered that showed that Loynaz had falsely testified during the hearings. However, on February 27, 2001, the Referee summarily denied the motion.

Karten filed a timely petition with this Court to review the Referee's rulings. The Court has jurisdiction under Art. V, § 15, of the Florida Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Undisputed Facts, Documentary Evidence and Testimony of Disinterested Witnesses

On June 10, 1996, a federal grand jury returned a one count superseding indictment in *United States v. Nelson Loynaz, Jr.*, Case No. 96-439-Cr-DAVIS (S.D. Fla.), charging Loynaz and 21 co-defendants with conspiring to distribute cocaine, in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) and 846. (Karten Exhibit 4.) Due to the seriousness of the allegations, as well as Loynaz' lengthy criminal record, Loynaz faced a life sentence if convicted of this charge. (T. 285-87.)

The indictment included criminal forfeiture allegations under 21 U.S.C. § 853. It sought the forfeiture of \$45,000,000 in drug proceeds and 5 homes or condominiums. None of the assets the government itemized in the indictment included the automobiles at issue in this case. (*See* Karten Exhibit 4.)

On June 21, 1996, federal agents seized a 1995 Mercedes Benz 320E automobile that was parked in the driveway of Mary Loynaz' home. (T. 240-241, 338, 379-381; FB Exhibit 12.) That same day, agents executed a search of a warehouse leased to Mary Loynaz. Inside, the agents found and seized 5 additional vehicles: 1 Dodge Viper, 2 Ford Mustangs and 2 Corvettes. *(Ibid.)* The Mustangs and Corvettes constitute the 4 cars Loynaz later claimed he owned and that Karten fraudulently stole from him. The evidence is undisputed, however, that the 4 cars were never registered to Loynaz. They were, instead, registered to an automobile dealership, Tropikar Sales, Inc. (T. 63, 78-80, 84; FB Exhibit 2; Karten Exhibits 1-2.) *See* **APPENDIX 2**. During the hearings before the Referee, the Bar itself admitted into evidence an affidavit from the owner of Tropikar, Manuel Fernandez, Jr.^{3/} Fernandez swore that *he*, and no one else, owned all 4 cars:

I, Manuel Fernandez, Jr., owner of Tropikar Sales, Inc., do, of my own free will, swear and attest ... [that] I/Tropikar Sales Inc., do own the following automobiles. [Description of vehicles omitted.] I further swear there are no liens or charges against any of the above automobiles and that I/Tropikar, are the only owners.

(T. 312; FB Exhibit 2, attachment.) See APPENDIX 3. Moreover, at least one of the

titles, on its face, reflected that Tropikar purchased the car from Quality Leasing on

October 27, 1989. (Karten Exhibit 1.)

Karten was appointed to represent Loynaz on June 27, 1996. (FB Exhibit 12,

p. 2.) At that time, although the 4 vehicles in dispute had been seized, no forfeiture

 $[\]frac{3}{2}$ Neither party called Fernandez as a witness during the hearings before Judge Bagley.

proceedings of *any* kind were pending against them.^{4/} In claiming that he was indigent and could not afford counsel, Loynaz concededly did *not* assert any claim of ownership over the seized vehicles.

On September 27, 1996, Karten filed a motion for return of 5 of the 6 cars seized by the government in Loynaz' federal case, pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 41(e) and 21 U.S.C. § 888. (T. 240-241, 338, 379-381; FB Exhibit 12.)^{5/} The motion asserted that Mary Loynaz was the lawful owner of the 1995 Mercedes but did *not* assert that Loynaz or his wife were the legal or registered owners of the other 4 cars. Karten nonetheless sought the return of these 4 cars to Mary Loynaz solely on a bailment theory, *i.e.*, that she held a leasehold interest in the warehouse where the 4 cars were located at the time of their seizure. (*Ibid.*) Karten then argued that the 4 cars could no longer be subjected to civil forfeiture, because the United States failed to file a timely notice of rights on *Mary* Loynaz, as required by Section 888(b). (*Ibid.*)^{6/}

(continued...)

 $[\]frac{4}{2}$ The Referee's report incorrectly asserts that the vehicles were initially subject to a civil, "administrative" forfeiture under 21 U.S.C. § 881(b). *See* **APPENDIX 1**, at p. 4.

 $[\]frac{5}{2}$ The motion did not seek the return of the Dodge Viper, which apparently was owned by Loynaz' brother Carlos -- the lead defendant in the *Loynaz* indict-ment.

 $[\]frac{6}{2}$ Section 888(b) provides:

In order to circumvent Karten's motion, on October 11, 1996, the federal prosecutors filed a Bill of Particulars, pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 7(f), listing the vehicles -- for the first time -- as assets allegedly belonging to Loynaz that the United States now intended to *criminally* forfeit, as part of Loynaz' criminal case. (FB Exhibit 12, p. 2; T. 241.) The federal court accordingly denied Karten's motion as moot. (*Ibid.*) Karten later renewed his motion for return of the 4 cars. This motion too was based *solely* on behalf of *Mary* Loynaz' right to possession (not ownership) of the vehicles under a bailment theory. The renewed motion, however, was also denied due to the Bill of Particulars. (FB Exhibit 12, p. 2.) At no time during this litigation over the return of the vehicles did *Nelson* Loynaz claim *any* legal or equitable interest in them.

In order to save Loynaz from the life sentence he otherwise faced, Karten subsequently negotiated a plea agreement for him with federal prosecutors. The agreement was signed by Loynaz, Karten and Assistant United States Attorney ("AUSA")

$\underline{6}$ (... continued)

(b) Written notice of procedures

At the time of seizure, the officer making the seizure shall furnish to any person in possession of the conveyance a written notice specifying the procedures under this section. At the earliest practicable opportunity after determining ownership of the seized conveyance, the head of the department or agency that seizes the conveyance shall furnish a written notice to the owner and other interested parties (including lien-holders) of the legal and factual basis of the seizure.

John Roth on June 17, 1997. (T. 93-94; Karten Exhibit 2.) *See* **APPENDIX 4**. Under the agreement, the United States promised to dismiss the onerous Section 846 charge and to allow Loynaz to plead guilty to a far less severe charge, 21 U.S.C. § 843(b) (prohibiting the use of a telephone to further a drug offense). In exchange for this lenient treatment, Loynaz agreed to be debriefed and to provide "truthful and complete information and testimony," whenever required by the United States. (*Id.*, at p. 3.) The agreement held out the possibility that the United States would one day seek a reduction from whatever sentence Loynaz received for the Section 843(b) violations based on its unreviewable evaluation of the merits of Loynaz' cooperation. As noted in the plea agreement, the United States had the sole power to obtain a sentencing reduction for Loynaz under the federal sentencing guidelines (U.S.S.G. §5K1.1) and/or Fed. R. Crim. P. 35(b). (*Id.* at pp. 4-5.)

Under the clear and unambiguous terms of the plea agreement that he signed, Loynaz also promised to forfeit his interest in "*all*" his "personal or real property, *if any*, subject to forfeiture" and to execute any and all documents "necessary" to transfer title of that property to the United States. (*Id.* at pp. 3-4.) Since the Mustangs and Corvettes were now subject to forfeiture through the Bill of Particulars, through Loynaz' plea agreement, he expressly agreed to forfeit whatever interest he had ("if any") in them. However, since Loynaz had never claimed to hold any such interest, the plea agreement expressly included the following caveat: "The government acknowledges that this agreement binds only the defendant and does not bind others who may own the subject property." (*Id.* at p. 4.)

Under federal law, the effect of this agreement was to forfeit the vehicles to the United States, regardless of whether Loynaz actually owned them.^{2/} In the event that third parties actually own property that a defendant agrees can be forfeited to the United States as part of his criminal case, third parties are required to wait until the end of the defendant's criminal case to file claims to the property with the sentencing court, pursuant to the procedures set forth in 21 U.S.C. § 853(n).^{§/} Although these so-called

⁸/ 21 U.S.C. § 853(k) thus provides:

Except as provided in subsection (n) of this section, no party claiming an interest in property subject to forfeiture under this section may--

(1) intervene in a trial or appeal of a criminal case involving the forfeiture of such property under this section; or

(2) commence an action at law or equity against the United States concerning the validity of his alleged interest in the property subsequent to the filing of an indictment or information alleging that the property is subject to forfeiture under this section.

(continued...)

^{2/} In *Libretti v. United States*, 516 U.S. 29, 116 S.Ct. 356, 133 L.Ed.2d 271 (1995), the United States Supreme Court held that federal judges could accept guilty pleas from criminal defendants *without* requiring a factual basis for the forfeiture aspects of the pleas. Karten also put on expert testimony to explain the peculiarities of federal forfeiture law to the Referee. (T. 213-230.)

"ancillary" proceedings are held under the rubric of the criminal case number attached to the defendant's case, they are, in fact, *civil* in nature.^{9/}

Pursuant to the plea agreement, a two count Superseding Information was filed against Loynaz on June 17, 1997. (T. 97.) The Information contained two Section 843(b) charges but no forfeiture allegations at all. (*Ibid*.)

In early August 1997 -- *i.e., after* Loynaz' guilty plea pursuant to the plea agreement but *before* his sentencing -- Loynaz attended a debriefing with AUSA Roth, FBI Special Agent Scott Wiegmann and Karten. (T. 367.) In a setting where Loynaz' very liberty depended upon his veracity, Loynaz expressly denied owning *any* of the 4 cars at issue herein. As Special Agent Wiegmann testified:

Q. Did Mr. Loynaz tell you and [AUSA] John Roth that he did <u>not</u> own the two Corvettes and the two Mustangs.

A. <u>Yes, he did</u>.

⁸/(...continued) See generally United States v. Roberts, 141 F.3d 1468 (11th Cir. 1998).

⁹ See United States v. Gilbert, Case No. 97-4578 (11th Cir. March 16, 2001), 2001 U.S. App. LEXIS 3986, at ** 42-47; United States v. Douglas, 55 F.3d 584 (11th Cir. 1995). As the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit recently noted in *Gilbert*, by merging the criminal and civil forums, "Congress intended that third-party petitions ancillary to a criminal forfeiture take the place of civil cases, and that such a procedure would enable innocent third parties to adjudicate their property interests swiftly instead of having to file separate civil suits." *Gilbert*, at *46, citing *Douglas*, 55 F.3d at 586. (T. 367-368; emphasis added.) During this same debriefing, Loynaz confirmed the accuracy of the affidavit Karten obtained from Manny Fernandez asserting that Fernandez, not Loynaz, owned the cars. Special Agent Wiegmann thus testified:

Nelson Loynaz told us that he did <u>not</u> own the vehicles. He said at that time that he could place a mechanics lien or some type of lien on those vehicles and that <u>the actual owner of Tropikar Sales who</u> <u>was a person by the name of Manny Fernandez</u> [who] owed him some money, owed Nelson some money.

(T. 373-374; emphasis added.)^{10/}

AUSA Roth and Special Agent Wiegmann accepted Loynaz' statements as truthful and in compliance with the plea agreement and, without objection, allowed Loynaz to receive the full benefits of the plea agreement negotiated by Karten. Accordingly, on August 27, 1997, Loynaz was sentenced to a mere 8 years in prison. (T. 86.) As Loynaz himself acknowledged, Karten's original appointment under the CJA *ended at sentencing*. (T. 86.)

Karten also viewed his CJA duties to Loynaz as over and submitted his bill to federal court for reimbursement under the CJA. (Karten Exhibit 8.) The records reflect that the district court declined to reimburse Karten for any work related to the return of the vehicles for Mary Loynaz. (T. 252-253; Karten Exhibit 8.)

 $[\]frac{10}{10}$ As discussed *infra*, in finding Loynaz' recent claims of ownership "credible," the Referee completely ignored Agent Wiegmann's testimony.

Since some of Loynaz' co-defendants went to trial, the cars, although now owned by the government through Loynaz' plea agreement, could not immediately be sold by the United States. Once property is forfeited to the United States, federal law requires the United States to sell it to public but only after the entire case has ended. *See* 21 U.S.C. § 853(h). Hoping to avoid both this delay and a public sale, on September 23, 1997 -- *i.e.*, sometime *after* Loynaz' sentencing but before the civil "ancillary" proceedings were over -- Karten negotiated a "Stipulation and Settlement Agreement" (hereinafter the "Stipulation") with the United States. (T. 35; FB Exhibit 6.) *See* APPENDIX 5. The circumstances surrounding and meaning of the Stipulation are at the core of this dispute and, therefore, are described more fully *infra*.

However, on its face, the 2-page Stipulation provided that the Mercedes, the 2 Mustangs and the 2 Corvettes, "shall be returned to the defendant" and that the Dodge Viper and "thirty thousand (\$30,000.00) dollars, *via cashier's check from Alan I. Karten, Esq.*, attorney for Nelson Loynaz, Jr., payable to `United States Marshals Service,' shall be forfeited to the United States of America." (APPENDIX 5, p. 2; emphasis added.) The Stipulation further required Loynaz and his wife to release any claims to the vehicles. Loynaz and his wife signed the Stipulation on *the same page* reflecting that *Karten* himself was paying the \$30,000. (*Id.* at p. 2.) A final order of forfeiture was subsequently entered by the federal court, ratified the terms of the Stipulation. (FB Exhibit 12, p. 2.)

At Loynaz' sentencing, the prosecutors did not believe that Loynaz' cooperation warranted a further sentence reduction and refused to seek one for Loynaz under U.S.S.G. 5K1.1. Under federal law, a federal court has no jurisdiction to grant a sentence reduction under either Section 5K1.1 or Rule 35 absent the filing of a motion by the government seeking such a reduction. *Wade v. United States*, 504 U.S. 181, 112 S.Ct. 1840, 118 L.Ed.2d 524 (1992). Accordingly, Loynaz received the maximum, 8-year sentence contemplated by his plea agreement.

Loynaz, unhappy with this sentence, required Karten to file a notice of appeal on his behalf -- the last act Karten took on Loynaz' behalf pursuant to his original CJA appointment. Karten subsequently received a second, separate appointment to represent Loynaz on appeal. (T. 362-363; Karten Exhibit 10.)

On September 15, 1997, Carlos Loynaz -- Nelson's brother and lead defendant in the criminal case -- gave Karten a letter instructing Manny Fernandez, the owner of Tropikar, to release the original titles of the Mustangs and Corvettes directly to Karten. (FB Exhibit 2, attachment.) On November 14, 1997, Karten retrieved the 4 cars from a government warehouse. (Karten Exhibit 6.)^{11/} Three days later, Karten sent Loynaz a draft Retainer Agreement. (App. 13; FB Exhibit 7; T. 40-42.) The draft indicated that Loynaz had agreed to reimburse Karten for the \$30,000 Karten had paid and allowed to be forfeited to the United States in order to obtain the release of the cars. The draft also contemplated that Karten's reimbursement would come from the sale of the cars. If the sale proceeds exceeded \$30,000, Loynaz and Karten would split the excess evenly. Karten also sent Loynaz powers of attorney to assist in obtaining titles to the vehicles. (T. 44-45; FB Exhibit 8.)

Loynaz did not sign and never returned either the draft agreement or the powers of attorney to Karten. (T. 42.) Nor, however, did he proceed to file complaints about Karten with the Bar and federal court. He simply waited.

Meanwhile, on January 5, 1998, Karten sold the cars to restaurant owner Robert Woltin for \$30,000. (T. 155-157; FB Exhibit 4, attachments.) Karten retained this sum as his reimbursement for buying the forfeited cars from the United States pursuant to the Stipulation.

 $[\]frac{11}{2}$ On December 2, 1997, Mary Loynaz retrieved her Mercedes from the same government facility. (T. 49-50.) She acknowledged that it was Karten who convinced the government to release the Mercedes back to her and that Karten did not charge her anything for these legal services. (T. 146.)

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