### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Court Case No. SC00-256
Complainant,	110. 5000 250
VS.	
ALAN IRA KARTEN,	
Respondent.	_/
THE ELODIDA PA	A D'S ANSWED RDIFF

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARUS Bar Counsel - TFB #360929 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel - TFB #253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director - TFB #123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

## **

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

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

### **ISSUE I**

The referee found that the respondent was guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c) (engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Respondent has failed to overcome the presumption of correctness of that finding. There is competent substantial evidence that respondent took for his own benefit four (4) classic cars that were to be released by the government to his client, Nelson Loynaz, Jr.

A Stipulation and Settlement Agreement between Loynaz and the United States government stated, without ambiguity, that the four (4) vehicles were to be returned to Loynaz. The agreement provided for a forfeiture of a fifth car, and \$30,000.00. While his client was in prison, respondent delivered \$30,000.00 to the government and took the vehicles.

A business associate of respondent had an arrangement with respondent whereby he would reimburse respondent for the \$30,000.00 payment and receive a share of some of the profits from the sale of the vehicles. Respondent told a different story, namely that he agreed to share profits with Loynaz. Furthermore, he insisted to the Bar that he had made no profit on the transactions. He denied any benefit from a \$24,000.00 check made out to him and endorsed by him in

connection with the sale of one of the cars.

However, the Bar discovered records which the respondent had not revealed. They established that the respondent received a \$24,000.00 credit towards his capital contribution to a corporation, 201 East Atlantic Investments, Inc. There were only two other shareholders of that corporation. Robert Woltin, president of the corporation testified that respondent asked him to apply the \$24,000.00 toward his capital contribution. Carl Karmin, a member of The Florida Bar, testified as custodian of records that the \$24,000.00 credit had been entered on the books. The respondent claimed that he promised a share of any profits to Loynaz, but gave him nothing based upon the claimed lack of profit. Loynaz denied the existence of a profit sharing agreement.

Respondent claimed that he entered into the profit sharing agreement with Loynaz because he (respondent) was "gracious". While he insisted that Loynaz did not own the cars, and therefore, respondent was free to buy them from the government, the government witnesses testified that the cars were to be returned to Loynaz, as the agreement stated, and there was no pending issue of ownership.

#### **ISSUE II**

Respondent has also failed to demonstrate an abuse of discretion in regard to the referee's denial of a motion for rehearing. Respondent sought rehearing

and/or to reopen the case. The precise nature of the motion is a bit unclear.

However, there was no claim of newly discovered evidence. No explanation was offered as to why the alleged evidence was not offered during the trial.

Respondent sought to introduce evidence which would impeach Loynaz. However, it was clear from the trial, that the Bar had corroborated Loynaz' testimony with the testimony of the same government representatives who had been in charge of his prosecution. His position was also corroborated by the explicit terms of the Settlement Agreement. Furthermore, respondent's credibility, not that of Loynaz, had been throughly destroyed. He had falsely testified that he made no profit. He falsely testified that the issue of ownership permitted him to obtain the four (4) vehicles. The referee was in the best position to know that in regard to the material issues, the question of who was credible was settled.

### **ISSUE III**

Disbarment is appropriate. Respondent engaged in dishonest conduct of a most serious nature. He took his client's property and made fraudulent representations to the Bar regarding not making a profit and repeated that false claim under oath. Under those circumstances, <u>Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions</u>, and case law recommend disbarment.

Disbarment is recommended even without aggravating factors. However,

failure to acknowledge the wrongful nature of the conduct is a viable aggravating factor when a respondent denies his guilt in bad faith. Furthermore, Loynaz was clearly a client with a disability because he was imprisoned and had no opportunity to directly facilitate the return of his vehicles. Also, an admonishment given in 1998 in regard to a 1997 case was a proper aggravating factor.

Mitigation, based upon the testimony of character witnesses, need not be given great weight in view of respondent's offensive conduct.

## **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

I.

WHETHER THE RESPONDENT ESTABLISHED ANY ERROR REGARDING THE FINDING OF GUILT

II.

WHETHER THE RESPONDENT FAILED TO ESTABLISH ANY ERROR IN REGARD TO RESPONDENT'S POST TRIAL MOTION

Ш.

WHETHER DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE

## **ARGUMENT**

I.

# THE RESPONDENT FAILED TO ESTABLISH ANY ERROR REGARDING THE FINDINGS OF GUILT

The referee found that respondent was guilty of violating Rule 4-8.4(c) (engaging in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation) of the Rules of Professional Responsibility. Respondent challenges that finding.

The essence of the violation was that respondent took possession of four (4) automobiles which the United States government was returning to his client, sold them and profited thereby and thereby deprived his client of the vehicles.

Respondent denied the existence of a profit. (TFB Exhs. 2, 3 and 4, T. 308).

When confronted with records that established the existence of the profit, respondent offered no reasonable explanation. Both of his business partners testified regarding the records which revealed a \$24,000.00 profit. Respondent also sought to recover additional fees under the Criminal Justice Act, 18 U.S.C.S.

3006A. He was court appointed counsel for his client, Nelson Loynaz, Jr., but was not entitled to additional fees under the act.

The applicable standards for review were set forth in The Florida Bar v.

## <u>Vining</u>, 761 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 2000).

A referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. See <u>Florida Bar v. MacMillan</u>, 600 So.2d 457, 459 (Fla. 1992); <u>Florida Bar v. Vannier</u>, 498 So.2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). If the referee's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, this Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the referee. See <u>MacMillan</u>, 600 So.2d at 459. The party contending that the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no evidence in the record to support those findings or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the conclusions.

(at 1047)

#### This court added:

[A] party does not satisfy his or her burden of showing that a referee's findings are clearly erroneous by simply pointing to the contradictory evidence where there is also competent, substantial evidence in the record that supports the referee's findings. See Florida Bar v. Schultz, 712 So.2d 386, 388 (Fla. 1998); Florida Bar v. de la Puente, 658 So.2d 65, 68 (Fla. 1995)... Because the referee was in the best position to resolve this conflict and there is both record and logical support for her conclusion, this Court will not disturb those findings of fact as to guilt.

(at 1047)

Respondent has failed to meet his burden of overcoming the presumption of correctness of the referee's findings.

The document which enabled the respondent to engage in the improper

conduct was a Settlement Agreement between the United States government and Loynaz. The agreement follows:

### STIPULATION AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Plaintiff, the United States of America and the Defendant, Nelson Loynaz, Jr., hereby agree and stipulates (<u>sic</u>.) as follows:

- 1. On August 8, 1996, a Federal grand jury in this District returned a Second Superseding Indictment against Nelson Loynaz, Jr., (hereinafter "Defendant") and others. Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. §853, the Indictment sought the forfeiture of the defendant's assets; a Bill of Particulars, filed October 11, 1996, more particularly described some of the defendant's assets, including the following vehicles:
  - a. One Mercedes Benz E320, VIN: WDBEA32E6SC217274; Florida Tag SJK-32Y;
  - b. One 1966 Chevrolet Corvette, VIN: 194376S109024;
  - c. One 1967 Chevrolet Corvette, VIN: 194377S118864;
  - d. One 1968 Ford Mustang, VIN: 8T02J16541502030;
  - e. One 1966 Ford Mustang GT350, VIN: 6S2282;
  - f. One 1994 Dodge Viper, VIN: 1B2BR65SE2RV102388.
- 2. The United States and Nelson Loynaz, Jr. stipulates (sic.) that the vehicles described in a), b), c), d), and e) above shall be returned to the defendant without assessments for maintenance and storage; the vehicle in f) above and thirty thousand (\$30,000.00) dollars via cashier's check from Alan I. Karten, Esq., attorney for Nelson Loynaz, Jr., payable to "United States"

- Marshals Service," shall be forfeited to the United States of America. (Emphasis added)
- 3. The defendant, Nelson Loynaz, Jr., Mary Loynaz, their heirs, agents and assigns, agree to forever withdraw any and all claims regarding the seized assets, and agree to release, hold harmless and fully indemnify the United States of America and all officers, agents or employees of the Unites States from any and all claims concerning the seizure and disposition of the seized assets.
- 4. The U.S. Marshall shall dispose of the forfeited vehicle and the thirty thousand (\$30,000.00) according to law.

The Settlement Agreement did not require any additional proof of ownership prior to delivery of the vehicles to Loynaz. While respondent was to deliver \$30,000.00 to the government in behalf of Loynaz, who was incarcerated, the Agreement did not authorize respondent to obtain the vehicles for his own benefit. (T. 38).

Loynaz had arranged for his wife and a friend, Manny Mesa, to deliver the \$30,000.00 to the government. (T. 53, 119). Nevertheless, respondent sent Loynaz a retainer agreement (T. 42) and several documents designated as "Power of Attorney" (T. 45) for the cars. Loynaz declined to sign. (T. 42-44). These

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Respondent repeatedly denied that Loynaz owned the cars. That attempt to create an issue is simply a huge red herring. The government determined that the cars should be returned to <u>Loynaz</u>. No one else intervene or filed separate legal proceedings to assert ownership of the vehicles. No court ruled that someone other than Loynaz owned the cars.

acts clearly evidenced respondent's efforts to "cover his tracks." Respondent proceeded to deliver \$30,000.00 to the government and take possession of the cars. (T. 56, 57). When Loynaz' wife went to get the cars, she was told that they were gone. (T. 49).

Mary Loynaz confirmed her husband's testimony that Nelson had recruited a friend, Manny Mesa, to deliver the \$30,000.00 to the government. (T. 137).

She testified that she went to the respondent's office three times, but initially, was not able to speak to him. (T. 137). When he did speak to her, his response to her inquiries about the cars was evasive. (T. 138). Respondent did not reveal that he had obtained possession of the cars. (T. 138). Respondent asked Mesa to leave his office. (T. 307). Respondent refused to accept the \$30,000.00. (T. 139).

In addition to the fact that respondent denied that Loynaz was entitled to the vehicles, Respondent denied that there was any profit, claiming that he sold the cars for only \$30,000.00. (TFB Exhs. 2, 3, 4, T. 308). On the other hand, respondent also testified that he entered into the transactions related to the vehicles because he visualized the opportunity to make a profit. (T. 263, 264).

A former business associate, Robert Woltin, testified as to the transactions which he and respondent had discussed. Woltin's testimony contradicts respondent regarding an alleged agreement with Loynaz to sell the cars and share

the profits. (T. 253, 264, 265). He also denied that he owned the cars at any time. (T. 164). Respondent would obtain the vehicles (with \$30,000.00 borrowed from his wife). Woltin would reimburse him immediately and would sell the cars. (T. 157). Respondent would receive an additional \$30,000.00 realized from the sale of the vehicles and Woltin would get any additional profits.

Woltin testified that he reimbursed respondent for the \$30,000.00 and arranged the sale of one of the cars, a Corvette, to Thomas Duncan for \$25,000.00. The \$25,000.00 consisted of a \$1,000.00 deposit and a \$24,000.00 cashier's check made out to the respondent. (T. 158). Respondent endorsed it, and it was deposited in the account of 201 East Atlantic Investments, Inc. (T. 185) in which both Woltin and respondent had a financial interest. (T. 156). The \$24,000.00 was given to Woltin (President of the corporation) by respondent as part of his capital contribution to the corporation. (T. 159).

Duncan confirmed the sale. Woltin told him that he was selling the cars for a friend, a lawyer. (T. 167-168). Although respondent denied making a profit, Carlos Ruga, the Bar's Auditor traced the \$24,000.000 check given to respondent. It was Ruga who testified that the \$24,000.00 check was deposited in the account of 201 East Atlantic Investments, Inc. (T. 185) which operated a restaurant, Louie

### Louie Too.<sup>2</sup>

Carl Karmin, the third shareholder in the 201 East Atlantic Corp., testified (via his deposition), that he and respondent were 25% shareholders and Woltin was the president, owning 50% of the corporation (Depo. pg. 5). Entries from the company's check book and general ledger identified the \$24,000 as part of respondent's capital contribution. (Depo. pg. 17).

John Roth who had been an Assistant United States Attorney working on Loynaz' case told Bar Investigator Jim Crowley that he recalled an agreement whereby the cars were to be returned to Loynaz. (T. 192). The Settlement Agreement, according to Roth, was between the government and Loynaz and was an accommodation based upon Loynaz' cooperation with the government. (T. 187, 194, 195). Roth stated that there was never any agreement for respondent to receive the cars. (T. 194-5).

Loynaz told Roth that even though the titles were in the name of another party, the automobiles belonged to him. (T. 193). Roth observed that convicted drug dealers do not have cars in their own names. (T. 194). FBI Special Agent Scott Wiegman was the lead agent on the Loynaz case (T. 364). His understanding

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The restaurant is identified in the transcript as both "Louie Louie Too" and "Louis Louis Too".

was that the vehicles would be returned to respondent "on behalf of Nelson Loynaz." Ownership was not an issue as far as Wiegman was concerned, although he eventually concluded that Loynaz probably owned the automobiles. (T. 372, 377). (A representation by Loynaz that he owned no property was made after the government had taken everything, T. 28).

The government entered into the Settlement Agreement which stated that the vehicles would be returned to Loynaz. Respondent conceded that such was the case. (T. 265). The agreement was clear. Loynaz, separately, would forfeit \$30,000.00 and a fifth vehicle. Proof of ownership was not an issue, and there was not the slightest indication in the agreement that respondent or anyone else was free to purchase the vehicles. When respondent obtained control of the vehicles and delivered the \$30,000.00 check, respondent did not advise the government that he was purchasing the four (4) cars. (T.276).

Respondent's explanation of what took place can only be described as bizarre. He admits that he took the four (4) cars and delivered \$30,000.00. He states that Woltin bought the four (4) cars from him for \$30,000.00. Woltin and an employee of Louis Louis Too (the restaurant owned by 201 East Atlantic Corp.) went with him to pick up the cars. (T. 275). (The sale, if it had taken place, could not be described as an arm's length transaction.)

Respondent said that originally he planned to make a profit because he believed that the cars were worth far more than \$30,000.00. (T. 263-64). He alleges that he told Loynaz of his plan to "purchase" the cars and share the profit, even though Nelson Loynaz had no ownership interest in the cars, in respondent's opinion. (T253, 264-65; The Florida Bar Exhs. 2, 3, 4).

He planned to share profits with Nelson Loynaz since his anticipated profit would be a "windfall". (T. 264). When asked why he would share the profits with Loynaz, he responded:

I don't know, I was gracious. I didn't need all the money. (T. 265)

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